# **Rail Track Asset Management and Risk Management**

FINAL REPORT October, 2019

Submitted by:

Zhipeng Zhang Graduate Research Assistant Olufemi Oladipo Undergraduate Research Assistant

Yun Bai Research Associate Xiang Liu Assistant Professor

Center for Advanced Infrastructure and Transportation Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey

External Project Manager Leong Chan, Chief Maintenance Supervisor - Track Port Authority Trans-Hudson PATH Journal Square Jersey City, NJ 07306

In cooperation with

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey And Port Authority Trans-Hudson (PATH) And U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

# **Disclaimer Statement**

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

The Center for Advanced Infrastructure and Transportation (CAIT) is a Regional UTC Consortium led by Rutgers, The State University. Members of the consortium are Atlantic Cape Community College, Columbia University, Cornell University, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Polytechnic University of Puerto Rico, Princeton University, Rowan University, SUNY - Farmingdale State College, and SUNY - University at Buffalo. The Center is funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation.

1. Report No.	2. Government Accessio	n No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.					
CAIT-UTC-REG 4								
4. Title and Subtitle			5. Report Date					
Rail Track Asset Manageme	nt and Risk Ma	nagement						
			6. Performing Organizati	ion Code				
			8 Performing Organizati	ion Report No				
7 Author(s)			CAIT-UTC-REC	5 4				
Zhipeng Zhang https://orcid	1 org/0000-0002	-5127-0284.						
Olufemi Oladipo https://orc	id org/0000-000	)1_8107_						
6231 Vun Bai https://orcid	arg/0000 000	5304 7185						
Viang Liu https://orgid.org/	0000 000 <del>-</del> 0001-	7422						
9. Performing Organization Name and Address	0000-0002-4346	-7432	10 Work Unit No					
Center for Advanced Infrastruc	ture and Transpo	rtation	10. WORK OHIT INO.					
Rutgers, the State University of	New Iersev		11 Contract or Grant No					
100 Brett Road, Piscataway, NI	)8854		69A355184710	2				
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address			13. Type of Report and P	eriod Covered				
Center for Advanced Infrastructure and Tra	nsportation		Final Report					
Rutgers, The State University of New Jerse	y		$\frac{09}{01}$	09/30/2019				
100 Brett Road			14. Sponsoring Agency Code					
Piscataway, NJ 08854								
15. Supplementary Notes								
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE								
Washington, DC 20590-0001								
16. Abstract								
The United States has the most exte	ensive rail network	in the world. F	reight rail carries c	over 43% of ton-				
miles of goods and passenger rail t	ransports millions	of passengers a	nnually. Track infr	astructure is				
the most valuable asset to the rail in	ndustry. Also, tracl	k infrastructure	quality is critical f	or rail safety				
and risk management. Despite billi	ons of investment	in track constru	ction, inspection a	nd				
maintenance, there is a lack of com	prehensive, cohere	nt framework f	or rail-oriented tra	ck asset				
management. This project develops	s a customized Cor	cept of Operati	ions (ConOps) of ra	all track asset				
has a curry with one transit re	ilroad This report	prosonts a com	proboncivo litoratu	eeds and gaps				
broken rails in rail transit based on	the resources cove	presents a com	uidelines and stand	lards prior				
publications, and news from social	media. It summari	zes the potentia	al factors affecting	the occurrence				
of broken rails with engineering he	uristics and referen	nces in freight r	ails to help unders	tanding of non-				
freight rails. The proposed ConOps	s is then demonstra	ted in the rail t	rack asset manager	nent and risk				
management & potential application	ons. Data needs and	l the roadmap t	to implement the C	onOps in				
future practice are also identified. I	concludes with	major findings in l	oroken rail					
reduction benefits and a future work map.								
17. Key Words		18. Distribution State	ement					
Track infrastructure, broken rai	l prevention,							
transit infrastructure asset mana	agement, risk							
management								
19. Security Classification (of this report)	20. Security Classificatio	n (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price				
Unclassified	Unclassified		70					

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-69)

## Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Leong Chen from Port Authority Trans-Hudson (PATH) for his kind support on this research.

# **Table of Contents**

1. Int	troduction	6
1.1	Major Components of Railroad Infrastructure	7
1.2	Overview	8
2. Lit	iterature Review of Broken Rails	9
2.1.	Broken Rail Caused Accidents on Commuter and Transit Rails	10
2.2	Scholarly Articles of Transit and Commuter Specific Broken Rail Factors	15
2.3	National Standards for Transit and Passenger Broken Rails	26
2.4	Summary of Potential Factors Affecting Freight-Train Broken Rail	30
3. Co	oncept of Operations in Rail Transit Asset Management and Risk Management	35
3.1.	Overall Methodology	35
3.2.	Data Needs	36
3.3.	Data Preparation and Cleaning	38
3.4.	Data spatial mapping and integration	41
3.5.	Data Analytic Algorithms	46
3.6.	Output and Potential Application	51
4. Sig	ignificance of Broken Rail Prevention	55
4.1.	Methodology and Safety Cost Factors	55
4.2.	Total Broken Rail Reduction Benefits	57
5. Co	oncluding Remarks	59
REFEI	RENCES	61

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Derailed Metro Train (Aratani et al., 2018)	10
Figure 2.2. Broken Rail-Caused Subway Train Derailed at 65th and Broadway, New York, 2	2014
(Sheehan et al., 2014)	12
Figure 2.3. MTA Investigation of Rail (Yakas, 2014)	13
Figure 2.4. Network Rail's Twitter Response (BBC News, 2018)	14
Figure 2.5. Ultrasonic Test Conducted by Hand (Zarembski and Palese, 2005)	17
Figure 2.6. Ultrasonic Test Done by Vehicle (Railway Technology, 2013)	17
Figure 2.7. Corrosion on Rail Bases (Hernandez et. Al, 2009)	19
Figure 2.8. Moscow subway bombing (Levy, 2010)	19
Figure 2.9. Train after Brussels Explosion (Dearden, 2016)	20
Figure 2.10. Rail Fiber (Kalay et al., 2001)	21
Figure 2.11. Fiber Application Device (Kalay et al., 2001)	21
Figure 2.12. Metallic Support Bracket (Feduloy et al., 2016)	23
Figure 2.13. Composite Support Bracket (Feduloy et al., 2016)	24
Figure 2.14. Restraining Rail Geometry (Shu and Wilson, 2007)	25
Figure 2.15. W/R Contact with Guard Rail (Shu and Wilson, 2007)	25
Figure 2.16. Class I Mainline Freight Train Derailment Frequency by Accident Cause Grou	p, All
Types of Tracks, 2001 to 2010 (Liu et al., 2014)	31
Figure 3.1. Major Process Steps in the Concept of Operations in Track Asset Data Manager	nent
	36
Figure 3.2. Shortcut of Track Chart in PDF Format and Collected Information in Excel	44
Figure 3.3. Data Integration with reference location	45
Figure 3.4. Overview of the Suggested Metadata on Each Report	46
Figure 3.5. A Variety of Charts in Exploratory Data Analysis	47
Figure 3.6. Machine Learning-Based Statistical Modeling Methods	49
Figure 3.7. Features of Developed Track Asset Management Database	53

# List of Tables

Table 2.1. Literature by Influencing Factors	. 32
Table 3.1. Potential Datasets in Broken-Rail Related Track Asset Management	. 37
Table 3.2. Challenging Issues in Data Preparation	. 39
Table 3.3. Types of Datasets	. 42
Table 3.4. Strengths and Weaknesses of Machine Learning Algorithms	. 50
Table 4.1. Broken Rail Reduction Benefits by Reduction Percentage per Year	. 58

## **1** Introduction

The United States has the most extensive rail transportation network in the world. Rail track infrastructure is the most valuable asset to the rail industry. Asset management covers an asset's entire lifecycle from design, construction and operation through to renewal and disposal and the consequences of each activity. It comprises of all systems, procedures and tools needed to maximize asset availability for a minimum whole-life cost and risk. Therefore, rail-track asset management is a term that has rapidly gained influence in the rail industry.

In its asset management policy document, Network Rail (2018) pointed out that the system is key to delivering "outstanding" value for taxpayers' and customers' money and driving sustainable development. Aligned with its corporate objectives, asset management also contributes to improving safety, supporting economic growth and social opportunities, and minimizing its environmental impact. In this report, the asset management study will focus on the topic of rail defects, which is one common contributor to rail hazards for freight railroads, passenger railroads, as well as transit systems.

As introduced by Cannon et al. (2003), steel rail has been at the very heart of the world's railway systems for about 150 years. Rail failure may cause a catastrophic derailment of vehicles with potential severe consequences (e.g., death, injury, damages to infrastructure and rolling stock, train service delay, and loss of public confidence). One major objective in rail safety is to detect, rectify, reduce, and eliminate rail defects before they cause rail hazards and accidents. Considerable work is being done by railroads to make improvements in rail making and inspections. Meanwhile, broken rail is still a major cause of freight train derailments in the United States (Liu, 2016) and rail defects continue to be a substantial economic burden and a

threat to the safe operation of virtually every railway system (both freight and passenger rail) in the world. Thus, it is still essential that international rail supply, operating businesses, rail industries and research centers collaborate to pursue more effective strategies that aim to reduce rail failure risk. This report focuses on the rail-defect-related track infrastructure asset management and risk management.

#### 1.1 Major Components of Railroad Infrastructure

In order to better understand the issue of broken rails, a short section dedicated to depicting how the different parts of railroad infrastructure work together is given here.

The first point of contact in the railway system, the rail, is also the most critical part of the system. Its primary purposes are to transmit forces from the wheel of the rolling stock to the sleeper of the railway and guide the train in the correct direction (Agico Group, 2017; Cannon et al., 2003). After forces are transferred to them, the sleepers (also called crossties or ties) must provide sturdy and uniform support to rail and funnel forces to the ballast as well as align the rails & maintain the correct rail gauge. For these goals to be achieved the sleepers must be laid perpendicularly to the rails (Agico Group, 2017).

A ballast in railroad applications helps railroad tracks by being the bed (of crushed stones) on which tracks lay thus having the purpose of giving track stability, drainage, and support of the loads transferred through the sleepers from the rail. Additionally, this member of the railroad track system is meant to prevent the growth of vegetation and make track maintenance facile (Vulcan, 2013). Likewise, the sub-ballast is a flooring of crushed stone that provides support for

the rails and crossties as well as the ballast above it. Although this component offers significant aid in creating a "moister barrier", it is often one of the first to be forgotten (American Rails, 2019).

Other major elements of the railway system are the rail joint, rail fastening system, and railway turnout. A rail joint is a metal rod on the outside of two steel rails that are linear which is used to connect the end of two rails by fish bolts (Agico Group, 2017). This part is used as an alternative to weld the rails together (American Rails, 2019). The rail fastening system is a reference to a collection of railway fasteners used to fasten the rail to the sleepers. The main purpose of these apparatuses is to impede the rail from movement both laterally and horizontally. Additionally, the rail fastening systems can absorb and transmit forces from the wheels to the sleepers. Lastly, the railway turnout (or railway switch) is a part of the rail-sleeper system that changes the track on which a rolling stock is moving on (Agico Group, 2017).

#### 1.2 Overview

In the age of big data, the railroads will acquire extensive datasets in rail characteristics (e.g., rail age, rail size, track curvature, grade, track geometry exception, turnout, joint or welded), operational conditions (e.g., axle load, traffic density, annual wheel passes), and maintenance activities (e.g., inspection, rail grinding). A well-organized track asset management involving these datasets would contribute to effective rail defect mitigation and prevention and improve the safety level of the railway system.

The structure of this report is organized as follows. Firstly, Chapter 2 presents the literature review of broken rails in rail transit, in which the resources cover national guidelines and standards, prior publications, and news from social media. Additionally, this chapter summarizes the potential factors affecting the occurrence of broken rails with engineering heuristics and references in freight rails to help understanding of non-freight rails. Chapter 3 then demonstrates a Concept of Operations in the rail track asset management and risk management & potential applications. Finally, this report concludes with major findings in broken rail-related transit track asset management and a future work map.

# 2 Literature Review of Broken Rails

Increasing the safety of transportation by rail continues to be a (nearly) worldwide effort, having benefits in the form of decreased casualties/injuries, maintenance costs, delays, and customer complaints (Cannon et. Al, 2003; Dick et. Al, 2002; Zarembski and Palese 2006). This review focuses on broken rails on commuter and transit railroads in three parts. Firstly, a discussion of recent incidents that portray the dilemma of broken passenger/transit rails was presented. Next, scholarly articles that detail broken rail influence factors specific to passenger and transit rails were summarized. After this section, a short exhibit of recent national guidelines that were made in response to insecurities brought on by broken rail statistics was reported. Finally, although there are differences in broken rail characteristics and consequences between commuter/transit railroads and freight railroads (e.g., axle load, traffic volume in passing cars), an overview of freight-train broken rails is summarized with a particular focus on affecting factors since freight rails have been studied to a much greater extent.

### 2.1 Broken Rail Caused Accidents on Commuter and Transit Rails

#### 2.1.1 MLK Jr. Day, 2018 Train Derailment

Estimated to have occurred at 6:30 am, a "7000-series" Metro train that had 63 passengers inside derailed just outside the Farragut North Station in Washington DC. The number of passengers was much less than the typical amount of Monday commuters because it was the holiday of Martin Luther King Jr. Although no serious injuries were recorded, passengers' accounts of the event meant that the outcome could have been worse.

One person commented about the emergency brakes doing their job, but that they did not work as quickly as one might think, while some reported a sudden jolt that felt like extreme airline turbulence, and yet another described his experience as hearing a loud bang followed by abnormal shuddering which was then succeeded by a sudden jerk. Afterward, he smelt smoke and strong electricity and was wondering whether things were "about to get worse or better".



Figure 2.1. Derailed Metro Train (Aratani et al., 2018)

The crew members also made reports, complaining of thick smoke clouds making visibility impossible as they tried to assess damages. It was later confirmed by the General Manager, Mr. Wiedefeld, that the train skid of over 1,200 feet on concrete was the cause of the smoke clouds. He also made statements about the rail age not being the problem since similar rails can be expected to last 40-50 years and that the root cause of the problem had not yet been identified. He did however mention the cracking seen and wondered whether a break in the rail developed over a 10 foot portion of rail (which burst in many different places) as the train moved over it. He also commented that the cleanup procedure would take "some time" because of their methodical approach to avoid further damages (Aratani et. al, 2018).

#### 2.1.2 Incidents of Broken Rails Cause Delays on LIRR

On January 29, 2019, broken rails near Mineola and Wantagh caused yet another day of delays and cancellations on the Long Island Railroad and affected four branches of operation leaving commuters displeased. Reporters claimed that the most probable cause of the broken rails was cold temperature. It should be noted that just the prior week, commuters had to handle a similar situation when three rails broke because of the weather (Long Island News, 2019).

Again, on Thursday, January 31, 2019, the Long Island Railroad had pervasive delays during the morning hours because of broken rails. Commuters were left outside in the "bitter cold" as they withstood delays of up to 20 minutes although some were able to find shelter in waiting rooms provided for the full day. Crew members of the LIRR were assembled to fix rails near the Valley Stream, Huntington, Southampton, and Jamaica stations (Long Island News, 2019).

#### 2.1.3 Injuries, Hours Spent Underground, and Delays Resulting from a Broken Rail

The first of two broken rails found in a matter of days on the Queens F Line of New York Subway occurred on the 2<sup>nd</sup> of May 2014. This first incident caused the derailment of a subway train which left 19 people injured, approximately 1,000 people trapped underground for multiple hours, and heavily impacted commute schedules. Passengers reported that the train shook, tilted, made very loud metal on metal screeching sounds, and was traveling at a "fast pace" and some said the speed was faster than usual. Services on four lines were suspended and recommendations for alternative travel plans were made by the MTA following the accident. While the shut-down was going on, crew members had to work "feverishly" in order to have the station reopened for the transit of rush hour trains (Sheehan et. al, 2014).



**Emergency Responders** 





Figure 2.2. Broken Rail-Caused Subway Train Derailed at 65<sup>th</sup> and Broadway, New York, 2014

(Sheehan et al., 2014)



Figure 2.3. MTA Investigation of Rail (Yakas, 2014)

Later that day, it was found that the region where this event occurred held the second most broken rails record (205) in New York City between 2005 and 2012 (Yakas, 2014). So, when another broken rail was found along the same line three days later, it came as no surprise. Fortunately, the second broken rail was not nearly as catastrophic. It was found in a new rail, during maintenance checks so there were no accidents or injuries caused (Harshbarger, 2014).

### 2.1.4 A Broken Rail "disrupts trains across the country" In England

In an article released by BBC on the 6<sup>th</sup> of November 2018, this statement was cited from Network Rail; one of its six lines into the Manchester Piccadilly station had to be closed which adversely affected the service provided to Birmingham, Manchester Airport, and London. On top

of this, numerous cancellations were made, 15-minute delays were to be anticipated, a reduction of services for many lines took place and 3 more lines had to be closed overnight.

Network Rail did apologize for the inconvenience and gave hopeful statements that the rail would be fixed during the night (Figure 2.4 is a picture of their official twitter response). Additionally, a bus from Piccadilly to Manchester Airport was temporarily instilled to make up for the lack of rail transport (BBC News, 2018).



Figure 2.4. Network Rail's Twitter Response (BBC News, 2018)

### 2.1.5 A Report of Broken Rails Displaced 50 Commuters for 15 Hours in Canada

In January of 2018, a story was released concerning 50 Via rail customers being added to the small town of Gogama, Canada for a day after a report of broken rails further along the train's route reached the ears of the train engineer at 4 am. The passengers were finally taken away at 7

p.m. by a bus arranged by Via. The cause of the broken rails was the presence of a "bad wheel" on a freight train. The wheel apparently broke the track in 15 different places, making safe travel an impracticability (CBC News, 2018).

#### 2.1.6 Broken Rail-Related Incident in Philippines

In Manila, Philippines, the Metro Rail Transit-3 (MRT-3) was inspected by a Hong Kong based railway operator in light of the (then) recent accident which injured 38 passengers on the same line. After investigation, he stated that a tragedy is impending if the train's broken rails are not replaced soon. The inspector continued by saying that the broken rails could lead to a train derailment which could cost a significant number of lives or at the least injure many. In 2011, there were only 4 broken rail incidents. This number grew to 11 in 2011, and then increased to 22 in 2013, meaning that the way the rails were being managed was subpar. Additionally, the operator warned that simply because no derailments had occurred already is no indication that this catastrophe would not happen. Immediate replacement of the rail sections with "severe defects" was recommended along with increasing the amount of stored rail tracks and machine grinding rails to remove defects while in the early stages (Cayabyab, 2014).

### 2.2 Scholarly Articles of Transit and Commuter Specific Broken Rail Factors

The purpose of this section was to detail the issue of broken rails in passenger/transit railroads. This was be done by summarizing papers which used in-depth analysis to identify the different causes of broken rails, highlighted seemingly promising avenues of successful interventions for existing problems, and discussed problems in the industry of broken rails that are yet to have a solution.

#### 2.2.1 Maintenance and High Traffic Density

Many metropolitan transit lines with large traffic densities, such as the subways of New York, Moscow, and Beijing, (as well as transit lines with less frequent usage and freight lines) have greatly benefited from the "Self-Adaptive Scheduling of Rail Tests" (shortened here to S.A.S.R.T.) (Yang et. al, 2015; Zarembski and Palese, 2005). Stations with high traffic densities are being highlighted here because of the well-documented traffic issues that suggests the need for optimal testing routines to minimize further impedance of traffic without compromising essential testing (Abril et. al, 2008; Gestrelius et. al, 2017; Hojda and Filcek, 2016; Yuan et. al, 2016; Zarembski and Palese, 2005). Additionally, since rail is affected by both capacity limits and fatigue problems, very dense transit/passenger stations must (on a much larger scale than other stations) deal with overburdens due to large loads and the "traffic peaking factor" which lead to broken rails (Abril et. al, 2008; Cannon et al, 2003). The S.A.S.R.T. works by firstly determining a permissible rate of broken rails per mile per year based on the category contents of the train fall into (i.e. whether they include individuals, non-hazardous cargo, hazmat materials, etc.). This rate is appropriately called the "maximum allowable risk" (Zarembski and Palese, 2005).

Building from this, key factors that influence the number of rail break incidents are identified. Some examples of this are traffic patterns, the reliability of non-destructive tests to detect rail defects before reaching critical sizes, and the types of risks that are likely to occur in specific environments since some are more critical than others (Cannon et. al, 2003; Lan et. al, 2019; Schafer, 2008; Tuna et. al, 2016; Yang et. al, 2015; Zarembski and Palese, 2005). After significant factors have been identified a schedule is developed to enforce the maximum allowable risk determined and is continually adapted to reduce the chances that defects go undetected (Xu et. al, 2017; Zarembski and Palese, 2005).

Numerous studies have confirmed the negative relationship between rail testing (non-destructive testing like ultrasonic tests) and rail breaks due to preventative and corrective procedures undertaken after defect recognition such as rail grinding, rail replacements, and welding (Cannon et al., 2003; Dick et al., 2002 Zarembski and Palese, 2005; Zhao et al., 2007).



Figure 2.5. Ultrasonic Test Conducted by Hand (Zarembski and Palese, 2005)



Figure 2.6. Ultrasonic Test Done by Vehicle (Railway Technology, 2013)

#### 2.2.2 Corrosion

Either through removal (due to impending failure) or failure, a rail's life can be shortened from multiple decades to less than a year because of corrosion. Known to prominently occur "in tunnels or wet undergrounds", rail base corrosion happens because of galvanic reactions encouraged by the amalgamation of different factors like humidity, inadequate ventilation, water leaks (especially salty water), accrued salt at tie plates and clips, varying metal structure & composition, contamination with dust & like particles, and most importantly the return (DC) current from the traction motors of transit cars (Hernandez, 2009; Guseva et al., 2019). AC current is said to be a minor factor when discussing corrosion since it results in only 1-5% of corrosion caused by the same amount of DC current (Hernandez et al., 2009; Paul, 2015).

When corrosion initiates, propagation is likely to follow since the unique shapes that result from the destruction of rails act as stress concentrators. When the shapes are found at the required geometry and orientation (though relatively rare) rail failure can occur (Hernandez et. al, 2009; Cannon et. al, 2003). Plastic ties and a return stray current system are proposed as the best solutions for rail base corrosion. Additionally, insulated joints are another proposed prevention method (Hernandez et. al, 2009). Figure 2.7 shows "intricate" corrosion at the rail's base which has jeopardized the safety of the rail. Diagram c shows even corrosion along the base of the rail (Hernandez et. al, 2009).



Figure 2.7. Corrosion on Rail Bases (Hernandez et. Al, 2009)

### 2.2.3 Human attacks

Most likely to occur on or around major transit stations, attacks (e.g. fire promptings or bombings) meant to harm the subway system and/or subway passengers can break rails or significantly decrease equipment resilience which leads to broken rails (Yang et al., 2015; Cannon et al., 2003). In this case, broken rail is the consequence, but it is not the cause.



Figure 2.8. Moscow subway bombing (Levy, 2010)



Figure 2.9. Train after Brussels Explosion (Dearden, 2016)

2.2.4 Evaluation of Three "Unconventional" Technologies for the Detection of Broken Rails Since it is known that as more broken rails are detected, the occurrence of broken rail derailments becomes less likely and because it has been concluded that (broken rail) derailments are the most catastrophic accidents, developing ways to minimize and find broken rails is a necessity (Dick et al., 2002; Schafer, 2008; Zarembski and Palese, 2005). In this section, a study funded by the Federal Transit Association (FTA) proposed the implementation of three (3) broken rail detection technologies in the transit sector of railroad activities as alternatives to the track circuit detection method. That is, they do not need track circuits that manage "conventional signal systems, train shunt, or insulated joints" (Kalay et al., 2001).

The first of the three technologies wanted technologies was the rigid bonding of fiber-optic strands to the rail for the early detection of and warning of looming failures, like thermite welds that are partly cracked, separated gages, or broken rails (Kalay et al., 2001; Smith, 2019). The technology works by connecting the strand to a photonix detection system which outputs "major and minor trigger alarms" (Kalay et al., 2001).

The most applicable location of this novel technology is thought to be in "very short, complex" portions of track which are difficult to insulate and have many "ground return paths" (Kalay et al., 2001). This is because of the difficulties encountered during application and reparation procedures. As supported by Yang's and his colleagues' statement concerning the labyrinthine inter-station coupling relations of metropolitan transit lines, interlocking segments of track could be the best place to use this apparatus (2015). Nevertheless, the fiber-optic technology has evidenced its ability to reliably find and predict broken rails (Kalay et al., 2001; Smith, 2019).



Figure 2.10. Rail Fiber (Kalay et al., 2001)



Figure 2.11. Fiber Application Device (Kalay et al., 2001)

The second procedure suggested is the measurement of longitudinal stresses using strain gages. With this methodology, breaks in continuously welded rail zones can be found hindered by two known cases; The first is the installation of temporary or permanently bolted rail plugs and the second is nominal sensitivity for rails that break but do not disconnect. Still, the lack of needed reparation (unless the actual sensor is flawed) of the sensing system after a break occurs (and the rail is replaced or welded afterwards), provides a lucrative reason to adopt its use (Kalay et al., 2001). The final strategy desired in the effort to find broken rails is the identification of imbalances in the traction current return circuit of the running rails which at the time this study was completed was totally theoretical.

Regardless of whether a "third rail or an overhead catenary system" is used to power an electric rail system, the running rails are utilized as the foundation for the traction current return circuit (now abbreviated to TCRC). The primary goal trying to be attained by the design of the TCRC is to minimize electrical losses which therefore calls for voltage to be minimized. By traveling on the path of "least resistance", the traction current flows to the electrical substations through the return circuit. As a general rule, the running rails of multiple tracks are joined to create a "multiple-branch electrical network" so as to diminish the return circuit impedance as well as decrease the propensity for "stray current to flow in trackside structures".

The electrical bonding previously discussed is done to make sure that enough current "flows along and transfers among" the different rail segments. Due to the interconnected network, all running rails should carry traction return current (including current from trains on nearby tracks). Using this fact, the researchers conclude that since current flow in any running rails can only be

disrupted by a broken rail or rail joint bond, weird current flows in cross bonds that occur to evade the "discontinuity in the return circuit" should be studied. Their hypothesis is that if this imbalance of current can be consistently be spotted then a new and cheap form of rail break detection would emerge (Kalay et al., 2001).

#### 2.2.5 Composite Subway Brackets Improve Contact Rail Life

Historically (represented by Figure 2.12), support brackets clamped to contact rails in subways have used metallic structures created from channel bars. This makes them very heavy, inclined to corrosion, and capable of becoming energized since they are conductive. Additionally, the structure of the bracket is complicated and laborious to inspect (e.g., insulation is not easily controlled because of the welded box) (Fedulov et al., 2016). As discussed earlier, incidences of corrosion and lessened inspection increase the risk of broken rails (Dick et. al, 2002; Hernandez et al., 2009; Schafer, 2008; Zarembski and Palese, 2005). Using composites for the construction of subway support brackets has been identified as a "very effective" method to achieve increased subway bracket lifespans (Fedulov et al., 2016).



Figure 2.12. Metallic Support Bracket (Feduloy et al., 2016)



Figure 2.13. Composite Support Bracket (Feduloy et al., 2016)

Although compound polymer structures like the structural glass-fiber reinforced plastic (GFRP) are more expensive than traditional materials used in structural applications they are competitive in other applications especially when weight and corrosion are pivotal issues. The composite design shown in Figure 2.13 has a much simpler bracket assembly, is not nearly as heavy whilst having an increased dependability/lifespan and has promises of security from electric malfunctions with superior insulating capabilities (Fedulov et al., 2016).

To improve cost-efficiency, different industries implement massive "integral structures" that have low production costs. When proceeding in this manner, an experimental trial and error method is usually employed to regulate the amount of deviations from specified limits in the final product dimensions. These alterations, called "process-induced distortions", are caused by "thermal deformation and chemical shrinkage." If these are not adequately prevented, then difficulties/impossibilities in fitting complex structures' components properly are likely to arise and poor installation is known to lead to rail defects (Cannon et al., 2003; Fedulov et al., 2016).

### 2.2.6 Restraining Rails Used by Transit Systems to Improve Safety

Restraining rails, also called guard rails or girder rails, are mainly employed (mostly by transit lines) to bolster the performance of vehicle curving, decrease the chances of flange climb derailment, and manage wheel/rail (W/R) wear (Shu and Wilson, 2007). The improvement of vehicle curving, and the management of W/R wear, are especially pertinent to this review since they are big factors in the manifestation of broken rails (Cannon et al., 2003; Jin et al., 2016; Magel et al., 2016; Sheinman, 2012).



Figure 2.14. Restraining Rail Geometry (Shu and Wilson, 2007)

Figure 2.15. W/R Contact with Guard Rail (Shu and Wilson, 2007)

According to Shu and Wilson in their summary of the TCRP "Restraining/Guard Rail" project, the best guard rail characteristics produces balanced lateral W/R forces and balanced wear between the high rail and the restraining rail. The former can be achieved through the regulation of the flangeway width and the latter by the government of W/R friction coefficients. The wheel profile shape (which consists of the flange back profile, wheel back-to-back distance, track gage, guard/girder/restraining rail profile shapes, installation height, and wheel-set angle of attack (AOA) or the track curvature) is the primary determinant of whether the ideal flangeway width is attained. While inappropriate flangeway widths also increase the wear (either on the high rail or guard rail), proper application of lubricants is the central factor in reaching the goal of uniform wear (Shu and Wilson, 2007). For more details on the study conducted, the original document should be consulted.

### 2.3 National Standards for Transit and Passenger Broken Rails

In this section, the guidelines/standards pertaining to broken rails set by the Federal Railroad Association (FRA) and the Federal Transit Association (FTA) are presented. The FRA has responsibilities for managing the safety of the USA's railroad system and development of intercity passenger rail through many means such as Legislative Rules, and Management & Procedural Rules (FRA, 2016). Similarly, the FTA administers monetary and technological aid to "local public transit systems" like subways, light rail, commuter rail, trolleys, ferries and buses. It also manages safety regulations as well as assists in the development of next-generation technology research (FTA).

#### 2.3.1 FRA Regulations and Reports

The Track Safety Standards; Improving Rail Integrity (abbreviated IRI for the purposes of this paper) is a legislative document released by the FRA to improve the quality of passenger and freight trains. These IRI codes became effective on the 25th of March 2014. Generally speaking the codes augmented the process for rail flaw detection (established the minimum standards for the operators of the rail flaw detection equipment, updated requirements for "effective rail inspection frequencies, rail flaw remedial actions, and rail inspection records", and got rid of the mandatory reporting of joint bar fractures). A more in-depth review of the codes is presented below.

• Defective Rails: owners of the track have a four-hour window where they must verify that rail sections that are suspected to have defects indeed have them. This was done in order to help track owners improve both the utilization and production of the detector cars, increase the likelihood of identifying major defects, and make sure that all parts of the rail that are meant to be inspected are indeed inspected. Additionally, the burden of stopping all activities to search out a possible defect upon suspicion was lifted. (This was done to avoid civil penalty liability). This reduces the amount of inspections that have to be carried out per day which saved the rail industry \$8400 per day.

Inspection of Rail: The uniform rules about accumulated tonnage (every 40 millionth or so gross ton or once per year, the rail was to be inspected) were disregarded because of the "self-adaptive scheduling method" where the frequency of inspection per year is determined based on factors like "defect rate per test, the rate of service failures between tests, and the accumulated tonnage between tests".

27

Instead, the final rule mandates that owners of tracks keep service failure rates at a maximum of .1 service failure per year per mile of track for every Class 4 and Class 5 track and no more than .09 service failure per year per mile of track for all Class 3, 4, and 5 track that carries regularly scheduled passenger trains or is a hazardous materials route; and no more than .08 service failure per year per mile of track for all Class 3, 4, and 5 track that carries regularly-scheduled passenger trains and is a hazardous materials route Additionally, it is required that rail inspections on Class 4 and 5 track and Class 3 track with regularly scheduled passenger trains or that is a hazardous material route, cannot exceed 370 days between inspections or a tonnage interval of 30 mgt between inspections (whichever is shorter). Internal rail inspections on Class 3 track without regularly scheduled passenger trains and that is not a hazardous materials route have to be inspected at least once a year, with no more than 18 months between inspections or at least once every 30 mgt (whichever interval is longer). Nevertheless, in no case can inspections be more than 5 years apart.

- Qualified Operators: For a rail flaw detection test to be considered valid, it must be conducted by a qualified operator. A qualified operator must have completed minimum training, evaluation, and have appropriate documentation. Additionally, each provider of rail flaw detection must have a documented training program to make sure that flaw detection equipment operators are indeed qualified to provide this service.
- Records of Inspection: Inspection records must include date inspection was conducted, track identification & corresponding mileposts, type/size of defect found if any, and initial remedial actions required. Additionally, if tracks don't get a valid inspection, this should also be recorded

28

Removal of the Required Joint Bar Fracture Reports: Since the report for every cracked or broken welded rail (CWR) joint bar provided little useful data, the Joint Bar Fracture Reports were to be replaced with a new study that attempts to conclude what circumstances cause/contribute to CWR joint bar failures.

On top of that, the characterization of the track properties near the failed joint(s), the track geometry (gage, alignment, profile cross level) at the joint location, and the historical maintenance where the joint is located is to be included in the report as well as photos of failure

• The final rule total net benefit was estimated to be around \$62.9 million over 20 years.

#### 2.3.2 FTA Regulations and Reports

The State Safety Oversight (SSO) Program became effective in April 2016 (replaced former SSO program). The SSO Program distributed the responsibility of managing transit rail safety to corresponding states while providing minimum requirements for safety regulations in areas like having enough workers and regularly scheduled safety tests (FTA, 2016). Based upon the SSO program, the Two-Hour Accident Notification Guide was published by FTA (2018). This rule states that when an accident (e.g., broken rail-caused derailments) occurs, the rail transit agency must notify both the overseeing SSO agency for the region and the FTA within two hours of any accident occurring on its rail fixed guideway public transportation system (FTA, 2018). In New Jersey, the New Jersey Department of Transportation (NDOT) (2018) identified the broken rail as the first source of rail system damage/problems that may disrupt service. The broken rail-related incident logs should be collected monthly as one of the NJDOT SSO Program general procedures. Besides, NJDOT (2018) also stated that the Train Control System (TCS) provides

the functions of on-board speed enforcement that is applied for reasons of civil restrictions, train touring and train separation and for protection against broken rails.

### 2.4 Summary of Potential Factors Affecting Freight-Train Broken Rail

Since transit and commuter rails have been studied to a much smaller extent than freight rails, this section provides analysis of freight rails in areas that were not discussed in the transit and commuter rails section. Freight trains, particularly loaded freight trains, have higher load on rail tracks comparing to passenger trains, commuter trains, or transit trains. Through various experiments conducted on railway, Frýba (1996) noted that vertical load, for statistical analysis, should be taken in the range of 180–200 kN for fully loaded freight cars and locomotives, 100 kN for passenger cars and partially loaded freight cars, and 50 kN for empty freight cars. This section primarily provides an overview of potential factors affecting broken rail regarding freight trains, based upon the previous broken rail researches.

Although freight-train derailment rates in the U.S. have been reduced by 44% since 2010, train derailment is still the most common type of freight train accident in the U.S. According to data from the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) of USDOT, 5,100 freight-train derailments occurred between 2000 and 2016, causing 1.7 billion dollars' worth of infrastructure and rolling stock damage (FRA Rail, 2017). A train derailment can have various causes. The FRA of the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) classifies 389 distinct accident causes related to infrastructure, rolling stock, operations, and signaling. Among all freight-train derailment causes, broken rail has consistently been the leading cause in recent years (Figure 3.1). As a result, broken rail prevention and risk management have long been a major activity in the U.S. railroad industry. In addition to the United States, other countries with heavy-haul railroad activity have



also identified the crucial importance of broken rail risk management (Kumar, 2006b; Zarembski,

Figure 2.16. Class I Mainline Freight Train Derailment Frequency by Accident Cause Group, All Types of Tracks, 2001 to 2010 (Liu et al., 2014)

There has been growing interest in broken rail research in academia, as demonstrated by an increasing number of publications on this subject. The aim of this section is to provide an overview of these studies, with a focus on statistical and data analytic approaches to predicting broken rail occurrence based on influencing factors. As the rail industry increasingly embraces the opportunities presented by the age of big data and predictive maintenance, data-driven models will continue to increase in popularity. The merits and limitations of various data models are reviewed here, as well as identifying factors and data needed for broken rail risk analysis. Finally, we will suggest possible future research directions on this subject.

Most rail defects are detected and treated before they deteriorate into a critical defect (Kumar, 2006b). Broken rails are linked to many factors affecting one or more processes of rail defect development, including defect initiation and propagation. This study divides contributing factors into five categories: operational conditions, rail profile, rail geometry and layout, defect history, and maintenance strategies. The references citing these contributing factors are shown in Table 2.1.

Factor	Observation	References				
Rail age	Increased probability of rail defects associated with increased rail age.	Chattopadhyay and Kumar, 2009; Dick, 2001; Dick et al., 2000, 2003; Jeong, 2001; Roney and Ebersohn, 2001; Shyr and Ben-Akiva, 1996				
Rail size	As rail size increases, rail defect probability decreases.	Dick, 2001; Dick et al., 2000, 2003; Shyr and Ben-Akiva, 1996				
	Curved track associated with higher rail defect risk than tangent track, all else being equal	An et al., 2017; Dick, 2001; Dick et al., 2003				
Track curvature	No consistent conclusion is obtained. Although curved sections of rails have greater rail stress, they usually have higher frequency of replacement than tangent rails.	Chattopadhyay and Kumar, 2009; Shyr and Ben-Akiva, 1996				
Grade	Steep grades increase the risk of rail defect.	An et al., 2017; Dick, 2001; Stock and Pippan, 2011				

**Table 2.1. Literature by Influencing Factors** 

Maximum allowed	Higher maximum allowed speeds cause higher probability of rail defect.	Dick, 2001; Dick et al., 2000, 2003; IHHA, 2001; Reddy, 2004; Shyr and Ben-Akiva, 1996; Sun et al., 2011				
speed	Higher maximum allowed speed is correlated with better track geometry, counteracting the effect of higher dynamic. wheel load	Dick 2001; Dick et al., 2000, 2003; Shyr and Ben-Akiva, 1996				
Axle load	Increases in axle loads cause more bending and shear stresses in the rail which might increase dynamic effects and increase rail defect risk.	Brouzoulis, 2014; Clayton, 1996; Dick et al., 2003; Esveld, 2001; Farris 1996; IHHA, 2001; Kumar, 2006a, 2006b; Reddy, 2004; Zerbst et al., 2009a, 2009b				
Traffic density	Higher traffic density causes an increase in rail defects, especially surface-initiated defects.	An et al., 2017; Brouzoulis, 2014; Dick, 2001; Dick et al., 2003; Jeong et al., 1997; Kumar, 2006a, 2006b				
Annual wheel passes	Higher number of annual wheel passes is associated with higher rail defect risk.	Algan and Gan, 2001; Brouzoulis, 2014; Dick, 2001; Dick et al., 2003; Shyr and Ben-Akiva, 1996; Skyttebol et al., 2005				
Track geometry exception	Presence of geometry exceptions increases probability of rail defects and reduces the life of a rail.	He et al, 2013, 2015; Reddy, 2004; Zarembski and Bonaventura, 2010; Zarembski et al., 2016				
Turnout	The presence of turnouts increases the rail defect risk.	An et al., 2017; Dick et al., 2003; Kassa and Nielsen, 2008; Sun et al., 2011				
Rail grinding	Rail grinding might delay the	Burstow et al., 2002; Kumar, 2006a,				

	occurrence of rail corrugation	2006b; Reddy, 2004; Shyr and Ben-				
	and reduce the probability of	Akiva, 1996; Zarembski, 2005;				
	rail defects.	Zarembski and Palese, 2010; Zhao et				
		al., 2007a, 2007b				
Ballast cleaning	Ballast cleaning reduces the risk	Kumar, 2006a, 2006b				
2	of rail defects.	1				
		An et al., 2017; Dick, 2001; Jeong and				
	Thora is a higher probability of	Gordon, 2009; Jeong et al., 1997;				
Temperature	broken reils in colder weather	Kumar, 2006a, 2006b; Liu et al., 2013;				
	broken fans in conder weather.	Skyttebol et al., 2005; Zerbst et al.,				
		2009b				
	Welded rails suffer less impact	Dick at al. 2003: Dick 2001: Zong at				
Joint or welded	loading and have lower rail	al 2012				
	defect risk.	ai., 2013				
Traction/brake	The presence of a traction/					
soction	brake section is prone to cause	An et al., 2017				
section	broken rails.					
	More inspections decrease the	Dick, 2001; IHHA, 2001; Kumar,				
Inspection	risk of broken rails	2006a, 2006b; Sourget and Riollet,				
		2006				
Lubrigation	More lubrication decreases the	Thelen, 1996				
	risk of rail defects.					

# **3** Concept of Operations in Rail Transit Asset Management and Risk Management

#### **3.1** Overall Methodology

A Concept of Operations for rail track asset management is proposed in this section. Due to the cultural factor, the organization structural factor, and technical factors, rail track-related datasets are organized and accessed by different departments of one railroad and are isolated from the rest of the organization that is one common data management phenomenon called as data silo. In addition, there are other challenging issues existing in datasets, such as format, duplicates, missing data. In order to overcome the impediment to effective decision making raised by data silos, this section aims to present a systemic methodology in the rail track asset-related data management that involves four steps: essential dataset identification and collection, data cleaning and mapping, comprehensive database integration, and data analysis and modeling.

- Essential data identification: Identification and collection of needed databases in the rail track asset management
- Data cleaning and mapping: general approaches in dataset reformatting, duplicate cleaning, missing data makeup
- Data integration and comprehensive database development: combining data from different sources into a single, unified database view so that employee and/or clients can easily access data from the master server involving compreshenvie database
- Data analytic algorithms and modeling: common data analytic methodologies in supporting the analysis and mitigation strategies of broken rail along with model implementation and evaluation

35

It is also acknowledged that there is no completely universal approach to data integration. However, data management solutions typically involve a few common elements that are demonstrated in this section. The objectives of the proposed Concept of Operations in track asset management are to improve collaboration and unification of data systems, boost efficiency, reduce errors and avoid rework, deliver more valuable data and leverage big data in the rail track asset management and broken rail prevention.



Figure 3.1. Major Process Steps in the Concept of Operations in Track Asset Data Management

### 3.2 Data Needs

Broken rails are linked to many factors affecting one or more processes of rail defect development, including defect initiation and propagation. As a study of broken rails-related track asset management, the data focuses on five categories, namely operational conditions, rail profile, rail geometry and layout, defect history, and maintenance strategies. More specifically, broken rail-related track asset management includes following datasets that come from various sources. In practices, only part of these datasets is directly accessible. For example, in the cooperation with one transit railroad, track charts, broken rail historical data, and geometry inspection data are available for the research team. They cover track files data, rail service failure data, geometry exception data, rail laid information, track curve, track grade, track turnout, and track signal data.

Data	Description / Expected Content
Track File Data	Rail type of track segment. A specific segment specifies the
	start and ending milepost locations of route identifier and track
	number
Rail Service Failure Data	Data of service failures that occurred in the network
Rail Defect Data	Data of detected defects that were detected, including defect
	cause, defect location, and remediation action
Geometry Exception Data	Geometry defects detected by geometry car. The geometrical
	parameters of track include alignment, profile/surface,
	elevation, and track gage
VTI Exception Data	Vehicle-track interaction exception that covers car body
	accelerations, truck frame accelerations, and axle accelerations
	in both vertical and lateral directions
Tonnage Data	Tonnage measured by segment within specific period (e.g.,
	daily, monthly, and yearly), such as gross tonnage, tonnage on
	each axle, number of gross cars, and car pass data
Grinding Data	Actual grinding pass data, including both low rail passes and
	high rail passes
Ballast Cleaning Data	Ballast cleaning history data
Rail Laid Information Data	Year rail laid, rail quality, rail weight, joint or continuous
	welded rails (CWR)
Track chart	Track profile data, division, subdivision, track alignment, and
	maximum allowed speed
Track Curve Data	Curvature properties of the curves present in the network, such
	as degree of curvature, length of curvature, direction of

 Table 3.1. Potential Datasets in Broken-Rail Related Track Asset Management

Data	<b>Description / Expected Content</b>				
	curvature, super elevation, offset, and spiral lengths				
Track Grade Data	Vertical slope of the track measured in degree				
Track Turnout Data	Turnout data of the rail network, such as turnout direction and				
	turnout size				
Track Signal Data	Signal distribution in the network, including signal location				
	and signal code (e.g., CSS: cab signal system; TWC: track				
	warrant control; ABS: automatic block signal; YL-S: main				
	track yard limits signaled)				
GIS Data	Geographic information system data to show the key track				
	network spatially and geographically				

### 3.3 Data Preparation and Cleaning

Given the amount of data received from a variety of data sources, it is critical to develop a comprehensive database structure that would allow access to data and follow up analyses. However, there are two major issues to achieve a valid track asset management tool; data formatting and data mapping. Databases that are generated by different platforms or from various departments have their own formats and to facilitate data fusion, data reformatting should be the first step in data integration. To map databases and ultimately integrate them into one comprehensive database structure, data can be referenced to track location-based prefix (or division, subdivision), milepost (MP) and track number or GPS coordinates (latitude and longitude). Though longitude and latitude provide an accurate location, a large portion of data sets did not have these coordinates, the milepost location was used to overlay each raw data information to the comprehensive database. Besides, data cleansing may be essential to remove data noises (e.g., duplicate records and missing values).

Issues	Possible Solutions
Duplicate data	• Drop either one
	• Keep worst case only
Missing data	• Fill manually
	• Fill computed values
	• Ignore
Noisy data	• Clustering
	Remove manually
	• Binning
Inconsistent data	External Reference
	• Knowledge engineering tools

### Table 3.2. Challenging Issues in Data Preparation

### 3.3.1 Data cleansing in Duplicates

The track-related datasets are commonly recorded manually and/or collected from the field. There are potential mistakes in collecting data which would make the data dirty and noisy. One of the common issues in data analysis is the duplicated data record. There are two common types of data duplications:

- (a) two data records (each row represents a data record) are exactly the same and
- (b) more than one record associated with the same observation, but the values in the rows

are not exactly, which is so-called partial duplication.

To determine the duplicates, selecting the unique key is the first step for handling duplicate records. Selection of unique key varies with the databases. For the databases which are time-independent (it means that this information is not time-stamped) such as curve degree and signal,

a set of location information is used to determine the duplicates. For the databases which are time-dependent such as rail defect database and service failure database, using the set of location information alone is not sufficient to identify data duplicates because of potential recurrence of rail defects or service failures on the same location.

Different strategies of handling duplicate records for databases are listed below.

- Record Elimination: For the exact duplication, there are two options for removing duplicates.
   One is dropping all duplicates, and the other is drop one of the duplicates
- Worst Case Scenario Selection: For the partial duplication, select the worst case. For instance, over the junction of two consecutive curves, it is possible that two different curve degrees are recorded. In this case, we assign the maximum curve degree to the junction.

#### 3.3.2 Missing Value Solution

Handling missing data is one of the most common problems during overlaying information from different data sources to reference dataset. Different solutions are selected according to the cause of the data missing. For example, one reason for the missing data is no occurrence of events on the specific location, for instance, grinding, rail defect, service failures, etc. In this situation, the blank cells should be filled with zeros because they represent no observations of interest of events. The other reason for missing data is that the missing value in the source data. For this type of missing data, a preferred value must be selected to fill it. Take the speed information in the comprehensive dataset as an example, the track segments with missing speed information can be filled with the mean speed of the whole railway network.

#### 3.3.3 Contradiction Resolution

Contradiction is a conflict between two or more different non-null values that are all used to describe the same property of the same entity. Contradiction is caused by different sources providing different values for the same attribute of the same entity. For example, tonnage data and rail defect data both provided the traffic information but may have different tonnage values for the same location. Data conflicts, in the form of contradictions, can be resolved by selecting the preference source based on the assumed more "reliable" data source. For example, both the curvature database and service failure database contain location-specific curvature degree information. If there is information conflict on the degree of curvature, the information from the curvature is used based on the assumption that this is a more "reliable" database for this type of data. The comprehensive database only keeps the value of the preferred source.

#### **3.4** Data spatial mapping and integration

#### 3.4.1 Structured data and unstructured data

The data in track asset management can be divided into 2 groups, structured data and unstructured data. Meanwhile, some of these are from internal resources and the rest are from external resources. An internal resource is stored somewhere under the Project Root Directory. To rail track, it may be structured data like traffic density, financial statements, or unstructured data like track curvature, grade maintenance reports, passengers' feedback and so on. An external resource is stored outside the project, possibly on a local or remote filesystem. An example of this is structured data such as scientific data, government datasets, weather record -- or unstructured data such as financial report of other company, regulation, policy documents, special events, news and so on.

Examples	Internal Resource	External Resource
Structured Data	Traffic density	Scientific data
	Financial statements	Government datasets
		Weather record
Unstructured	Track curvature, grade	Regulation/policy documents
Data	Maintenance reports	Special events/news
	Passengers' feedback	

**Table 3.3. Types of Datasets** 

First, data from internal sources and external sources needs to be connected. There are three ways to connect the data: 1) connect with external tools; 2) connect data from various sources; and 3) aggregate data from internal sources. The external tools include but are not limited to BCS Meta Man, Data Viewer Web Part, and Lightning Conductor Web Part. More frequently, track asset-related data are aggregated from internal sources without too many external tools. Meanwhile, it is possible that some data is kept in non-Excel file format. It means that the second work in data reformatting is to convert all data information into consistent database form or readable format(s).

In terms of integration of structured data, the key point is to unify the formats of the column names and value types of corresponding columns (e.g., continuous variables or categorical variables) in each database. In particular, below geography-related fields should be highly uniformed that can contribute to ultimate database mapping and integration:

- Route Identifier: coding system with several alphabet.
- Track Type: differentiate between single track, multiple tracks.
- Start MP: Starting milepost of one segment, if have.
- End MP: Ending milepost of one segment, if have.
- Milepost: If have, used to spot the particular point on the track (used for signal)
- Side: Including right side (R) and left side (L) to distinguish different sides of the track.

In addition, it is possible that some data is kept in non-Excel file format. It means that the second work in data reformatting is to convert all data information into a consistent database form or readable format(s). Standard, open, and widespread formats are advisable for long-term track asset data management and data analysis. In general, the data conversions may be as simple such as the conversion of a text filed from one-character encoding system to another. Meanwhile, some can be complex (e.g., the conversion of PDF or audio file). For example, converting from PDF to an editable word processor format is a tough chore, because PDF records the textual information like engraving on stone, with each character given a fixed position and line-breaks hard-coded, whereas word processor formats accommodate text reflow. PDF does not know of a word space character—the space between two letters and the space between two words differ only in quantity. There are two common solution in unstructured data, employment of external tool and manual information extraction. Some simple unstructured files, such as PDF files, may be converted into editable text files, such as Excel or csv format. The other possible solution is to derive information from unstructured data into an organized, structured dataset manually. In the cooperation with one transit railroad, Rutgers research team has completed collecting rail track information from 68 track charts into one well-organized Excel file. Figure 3.2 presents an overview of these charts in PDF format and collected information in well-organized Excel file.

~			A	B	с	D	E	F	G	н	1.1	
Name	Size	1	Route Identifier	Start_MP	End_MP	Track_Lengh	MPH 4	Grd	Elevation	Curvature	Signal Loc	
🛃 2008 tkcht G16.pdf	64 KB	2	TA	1011+33.70	1011+40	0.063	12	1.65%	318.00305		0 x	
2008 tkcht G15.pdf	63 KB	3	TA	1011+40	1011+59	0.19	12	1.65%	318.00305		0	
	70 100	4	TA	1011+59	1011+80	0.21	12	1.65%	318.00305		0	
2008 tkcht G14.pdf	76 KB	5	TA	1011+80	1011+89	0.09	12	1.65%	318.00305		0 x	
剧 2008 tkcht G13.pdf	91 KB	7	TA	1012+00	1012+02	0.02	40	1.65%	318.00305	(	0 x	
2008 tkcht G12.pdf	81 KB	8	TA	1012+02	1013+42	1.4	40	1.65%	318.00305	1	0	
2000 tkept G11 pdf	05 VP	9	TA	1013+42	1014+00	0.58	-40	0.50%	321.44	(	0	
	3J KD	10	TA	1014+00	1015+11	1.11	40	0.50%	321.44		0	
🐣 2008 tkcht G10.pdf	80 KB	11	TA	1015+11	1016+00	0.89	40	0.50%	321.44		0 x	
2008 tkcht G9.pdf	80 KB	12	TA	1016+00	1017+36	1.36	40	0.50%	321.44		0	
2000 Alizaba C.0 m df	70 // 0	13	TA	1017+36	1017+43	0.07	40	0.50%	321.44		0	
2008 tkcnt Go.pdf	70 KD	14	TA	1017+43	1018+00	0.57	40	-1.58%	323.44		0	
🙈 2008 tkcht G7.pdf	68 KB	16	ТА	1019+40	1020+00	0.6	40	-1 38%	323.44		0	
2008 tkcht G6.pdf	95 KB	17	TA	1020+00	1021+00	1	40	-1.38%	323.44		0	
2008 tkcht G5 ndf	108 KB	18	TA	1021+00	1022+00	1	40	-1.38%	323.44	(	0 x	
	100 100	19	TA	1022+00	1024+00	2	40	-1.38%	323.44	(	0	
占 2008 tkcht G4.pdf	89 KB	20	TA	1024+00	1026+00	2	40	-1.38%	323.44	(	0	
2008 tkcht G3.pdf	94 KB	21	ТА	1026+00	1026+26	0.26	40	-1.38%	323.44	(	0	
2008 tkcht G2 ndf	81 KB	22	TA	1026+26	1026+85	0.59	40	-1.38%	323.44		0 ×	
	OTIND	23	TA	1020+85	1020+98	0.13	40	-1.58%	323.44		0	
2008 tkcht G1.pdf	141 KB	25	ТА	1027+55	1027+33	0.45	40	0.50%	310.29		0	
剧 2008 tkcht A9.pdf	73 KB	26	TA	1028+00	1030+00	2	40	0.50%	310.29		0	
2008 tkcht A8 ndf	67 KB	27	TA	1030+00	1030+37	0.37	40	0.50%	310.29	1	0	
	74 149	28	TA	1030+37	1030+77	0.4	40	0.50%	310.29	(	0 x	
2008 tkcht A7.pdf	/1 KB	29	TA	1030+77	1031+48	0.71	40	0.50%	310.29	(	0	
剧 2008 tkcht A6.pdf	46 KB	30	TA	1031+48	1032+00	0.52	40	2.41%	312.54	(	0	
2008 tkcht A5 ndf	72 KB	31	TA	1032+00	1034+26	2.26	40	2.41%		(	0	
	66 KD	32	TA	1034+26	1035+15	0.89	40	-1.17%	319.24		0	
2008 tkcht A4.pdf	66 KB	35	TA	1035+15	1035+61	0.46	40	-1.17%			0	
剧 2008 tkcht A3.pdf	48 KB	35	TA	1036+00	1036+26	0.35	40	-1.17%			0	
2008 tkcht A2.pdf	48 KB	36	TA	1036+26	1036+60	0.34	40	-0.60%	316.9		0	
2000 +kabt A1 pdf	75 V D	37	TA	1036+60	1036+68	0.08	40	-0.60%		(	0 x	
	13 10	38	TA	1036+68	1036+80	0.12	40	-0.60%		(	0	

Figure 3.2. Shortcut of Track Chart in PDF Format and Collected Information in Excel

After retrieving the useful information, we will have to create some labels to store the useful information retrieved. To unite the labels, it is necessary to find out which labels have the same meanings so that they can be combined. Furthermore, the conversion itself should be assisted by rail experts who are familiar with the data or the domain, so that railroad experts can check for potential undesirable changes in the data that occurred as a result of the conversion.

#### 3.4.2 Data integration

A reference database with unique length is developed. To capture as many accurate details as possible and to facilitate the data mapping. The unique length in the reference database is set up as 0.1 mile (528 ft). For example, over 19 track-mile network can be represented by over 380

segments with 0.1 mile in length (differentiate the right side and left side of the track). All supplementary attributes from other databases would be mapped into the reference database based on the location index (e.g., route identifier, start milepost, end milepost, track type, and side).



Figure 3.3. Data Integration with reference location

To explicitly illustrate the aforementioned strategy, an example is presented in Figure 4.2. It can be seen that the rail/section location is the main link point between each report. In this way, the rail characteristics, the maintenance and traffic details on one specific rail section from millions of rail sections can be simply and individually selected and shown in the data management tools.

#### Track Defect History Report

Section/track	Curvature	Grade	L-R	Defect type/causes	ondition before repaire	Condition after repaired	Renewal date	Вγ	Action
N-X	number	number	L,R	Transvere D.	1-10	1-10			
				Longitudinal D.					
				Web D.					
				Base D.					
				Damage Rail					
				Surface Condition					
				Weld D.					
				Defect in joint area					
	Section/track N-X	Section/track Curvature N-X number	Section/track Curvature Grade N-X number number	Section/track Curvature Grade L-R N-X number number L,R	Section/track Curvature Grade L-R Defect type/causes N-X number number L,R Transvere D. Longitudinal D. Bese D. Base D	Section/track         Curvature         Grade         L-R         Detect type/causes ondition before repaire           N-X         number         number         L,R         Transvere D.         1-10           Long/itudinal D.         LOR         Web D.         Base D.         Base D.           Long/itudinal D.         Surface Condition         Weld D.         Base D.	Section/track         Curvature         Grade         L-R         Detect type/causes ondition before repaire         Condition after repaired           N-X         number         number         number         L,R         Transvere D.         1-10         1-10           Long/itudinal D.         Long/itudinal D.         User type/causes ondition before repaire         1-10         1-10           Velop         Long/itudinal D.         User type/causes ondition         1-10         1-10           Base D.         Base D.         Base D.         Base D.         Base D.         Base D.           User type/cause condition         Weld D.         Weld D.         Weld D.         Weld D.         Weld D.	Section/track         Curvature         Grade         L-R         Detect type/causes ondition before repaire         Condition after repaired         Renewal date           N-X         number         number         L,R         Transvere D.         1-10         1-10           N-X         number         L,R         Transvere D.         1-10         1-10         1-10           N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         1-10         1-10           N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         1-10         1-10           N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         1-10         1-10         1-10           N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         1-10         1-10         1-10           N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         N-X         1-10	Section/track         Curvature         Grade         L-R         Detect type/causes ondition before repaire         Condition after repaired         Renewal date         By           N-X         number         number         L,R         Transver0.         1-10

#### Track Design Report

Rail Loca	ation	Section/track	Year Rolled	Curvature	Grade	Rail Size	joint type, (weld, joint)	Max. design speed	Design Load	Remark
1xxx+	хx	N-X								N.A.
										/Traction/
										turnout section?

#### **Operational Report**

Reported	Routes		Rail location		Traffic		Predicted Axle load from a to b	No. of according the	Annual gross	
Month	StationA	StationB	Range of	trac	k station	IN	OUT	average density / month, (ton/month)	No. of passes/month	ton
	1	2	4	*	1					
JAN	2	1	1XXX+1X	1	1xxx+9x					
			/							
			/							

### Maintenance Report

/	-							
Dail La carlier	Castion Analy	No. of Monthly Maintenance Record						
Rall Location	Section/track	Rail glinding	Ballast C	leaning	Lubrication	Inspection		
1xxx+xx	N-X							

Figure 3.4. Overview of the Suggested Metadata on Each Report

### 3.5 Data Analytic Algorithms

Two major types of data analysis are commonly conducted in the data exploration and explanation, as well as rail-related data management, exploratory data analysis (EDA) and statistical modeling.

### 3.5.1 Exploratory data analysis

In the EDA, a series of simple data analysis can be conducted in order to develop a preliminary understanding of the relationship between most of the recorded variables (e.g., variables and information in track, traffic, maintenance, and operational characteristics) and broken rail occurrence. For example, the single variable exploratory data analysis was conducted in the form of the broken rail rate per billion ton-miles. In practice, the following variables may attract more interests and the distributions service failure rate (per billion ton-miles) or broken rail rate (per billion ton-miles) by specific factors can be developed:

- Rail track profile (e.g., rail age, rail weight, track quality)
- Track layout (e.g., curve degree, grade, turnout)
- Maintenance (e.g., rail grinding, ballast cleaning)
- Maximum allowed track speed
- Annual traffic density



Figure 3.5. A Variety of Charts in Exploratory Data Analysis

#### 3.5.2 Statistical Modeling

Statistical modeling in data analysis focus on the utilization of statistical learning or called machine learning in computer science. These are the most widely employed methods in the data

analysis and prediction, as a branch of artificial intelligence (AI). The statistical learning-based methods provide the ability to learn automatically from input data (e.g., track asset data) and improve the track asset management from the experience without being explicitly programmed or without the intervention of human. In other words, machine learn algorithms use computational methods to learn and identify information directly from data without relying on a predetermined equation as a model. There are two major categories of statistical learning methods, supervised learning and unsupervised learning (Pilotte, 2016). The choice of algorithms/models depends on the type of task in the data analysis along with the type, quality, and nature of data present.

In the supervised learning, input and output are provided to the computer along with feedback during the training. The accuracy of predictions by the computer during training is also analyzed. The main goal of this training is to learn how to map input to the output. Supervised learning includes two categories of algorithms, classification and regression. The choice of algorithms depends on a number of design factors, such as memory usage, prediction speed, and interpretability of the model. Other considerations include whether a single or multi-class response is needed and if predictors are continuous or categorical.

 Classification: For categorical response values where the data can be separated into specific "classes." Common classification algorithms include support vector machines (SVM), neural networks, Naive Bayes classifiers, decision trees, discriminant analysis, and nearest neighbor (KNN).  Regression: For prediction when continuous response values are desired. Regression tasks are characterized by labeled datasets that have a numeric target variable. Common regression algorithms include linear regression, nonlinear regression, generalized linear models, decision trees, and neural networks.

In the unsupervised learning, no such training is provided which left computers on their own to find the output. Unsupervised learning is mostly applied on transactional data. It is used in more complex tasks. It uses another approach of iteration known as deep learning to arrive at some conclusions. The common unsupervised learning methods are K-means, hierarchical cluster trees, Gaussian mixture, neural network, and hidden Markov model. A brief introduction of these algorithms' strengths and weaknesses is summarized in Table 3.4.



Figure 3.6. Machine Learning-Based Statistical Modeling Methods

Algorithms	Strengths	Weaknesses
		• Perform poorly when there are non-
		linear relationships
	• Straightforward to understand and	• Not naturally flexible enough to
	explain,	capture more complex patterns
Linear regression	• Can be regularized to avoid	• Assumes the input residuals (error)
Linear regression	overfitting	to be normal distributed, but may
	• Can be updated easily with new data	not be satisfied always
	using stochastic gradient descent	• Assumes input features to be
		mutually independent (no co-
		linearity)
	• Learn non-linear relationships	• Unconstrained, individual trees are
Regression tree,	• Fairly robust to outliers.	prone to overfitting because they
decision tree	• Ensembles perform very well in	can keep branching until they
	practice	memorize the training data
		• Not suitable as general-purpose
	• Their architectures (i.e. number and	algorithms because they require a
	structure of layers) can be adapted to	very large amount of data
Neural Network	many types of problems, and their	• Computationally intensive to train,
	hidden layers reduce the need for	and they require much more
	feature engineering	expertise to tune (i.e. set the
		architecture and hyperparameters).
	• Easily make predictions for new	Memory-intensive, perform poorly
Nearest neighbors	observations by searching for the	for high-dimensional data, and
i tearest heighbors	most similar training observations	require a meaningful distance
	and pooling their values	function to calculate similarity
	Outputs have a nice probabilistic	• Tend to underperform when there
	interpretation, and the algorithm can	are multiple or non-linear decision
Logistic	be regularized to avoid overfitting.	boundaries
Regression	• Logistic models can be updated	Not flexible enough to naturally
	easily with new data using stochastic	capture more complex relationships
	gradient descent.	capture more complex relationships

# Table 3.4. Strengths and Weaknesses of Machine Learning Algorithms

Algorithms	Strengths	Weaknesses
Support vector machines (SVM)	<ul> <li>Can model non-linear decision boundaries, and there are many kernels to choose from.</li> <li>Fairly robust against overfitting, especially in high-dimensional space.</li> </ul>	• Memory intensive, trickier to tune due to the importance of picking the right kernel, and don't scale well to larger datasets.
Naïve Bayes	• Perform surprisingly well in practice, especially for how simple they are.	• Due to their sheer simplicity, NB models are often beaten by models properly trained and tuned using the previous algorithms listed.
K-means	• Fast, simple, and surprisingly flexible in pre-processing your data and engineer useful features.	<ul> <li>The user must specify the number of clusters, which won't always be easy to do.</li> <li>If the true underlying clusters in your data are not globular, then K- Means will produce poor clusters.</li> </ul>
Hierarchical	<ul> <li>The clusters are not assumed to be globular.</li> <li>It scales well to larger datasets.</li> </ul>	• Much like K-Means, the user must choose the number of clusters (i.e. the level of the hierarchy to "keep" after the algorithm completes).

## **3.6** Output and Potential Application

There are two major outputs in the broken rail-related track asset management, one is a comprehensive, consistent track asset database, the other one is the broken rail occurrence probability estimation as per machine learning methods and accounting for a set of track-related and operational factors based on the well-organized railroad big data.

# <u>A comprehensive track asset database</u>

Developed track asset database is a collection of large datasets related to rail track assets. Different from the raw, separate datasets that cannot be adequately processed using traditional processing techniques, a comprehensive track asset database would cover complete subject and large volume amount of data in both structured and unstructured manners. It mainly contributes to analyzing the in-depth concepts for better data organization, data analysis, better decisions and strategic taken for the safe, economical rail track asset management. With the features in cost reduction and time reduction, developed track asset database has great impact on finding the root cause of broken rails and rail defects in practical operation and further brings smart decision making.

Overall, there are five features in the well-organized track asset database as the output in the Concept of Operations, namely volume, velocity, verity, value, and veracity (Figure 4.7). In terms of volume, the track asset database aims to collect all essential data from relative sources and departments in railroad(s), which include operational conditions, rail profile, rail geometry and layout, defect history, and maintenance strategies. For velocity, the track asset database has great impact in timely manner and streams unparalleled speed of velocity. The developer of any data science can access all data using tools (e.g., Hadoop, Spark, or other programming languages) and engineers can quantitatively check track asset-related data information. The third key feature is variety, in which data comes in all varieties in form of structured, numeric data in traditional databases (e.g., Excel file) to unstructured text documents. Video, audio, and email information can also be converted into text documents and integrated with structured data.



Figure 3.7. Features of Developed Track Asset Management Database

#### Track asset data analytic tool and results

Well-organized rail track asset data contribute to the development of data analysis and track asset management. In particular, the occurrence of broken rails can be studied and predicted through historical records and rail track asset information. In terms of data analysis, the variables in track, traffic, maintenance, and operational characteristics are analyzed that present a preliminary understanding of the relationships between these variables and broken rail occurrence. The distributions service failure rate (per billion ton-miles) or broken rail rate (per billion ton-miles) by specific factors can be developed with rail track asset-related data and a variety of charts. For example, the distribution of broken rail rate per billion ton-miles by one specific variable, such as rail age, would disclose whether broken rail rate is increasing as the rail age increases, which rail ages have the highest probability of broken rail occurrence based on documented data. The estimations of broken rail probability, also called prediction, involve two common types of outputs based upon binary classification and multi-output classification:

- binary classification: predict the occurrence of broken rails at a specific time or a specific location; the label of the output in the model is an index value 0 or 1, with 1 indicating the occurrence of the broken rail at one location and 0 representing no occurrence of the broken rail.
- multi-output classification: predict probabilities of broken rails at multiple specific times, such as 0-3 months, 3-6 months, 6-9 months, 9-12 months, and over one year.

# **4** Significance of Broken Rail Prevention

The proposed Concept of Operations in rail track asset management aims to improve the collaboration and unification of data systems, deliver more valuable data, and leverage big data in the rail track asset management and broken rail prevention. To quantitatively evaluate the significance of broken rail prevention, the safety benefits associated with broken rail prevention are identified in this section. A rapid transit railroad is employed as the case study to disclose the preliminary monetary estimations of broken rail reduction benefits.

### 4.1 Methodology and Safety Cost Factors

The safety benefits of broken rail prevention are estimated in monetary value based on historical broken rail data and the safety cost factor in each category. The historical broken rail data is presented in the above subsection and the safety cost factor is based upon two major categories per the literature (Liu et al., 2014), the cost of repairing broken rails and the train delay cost due to broken rails.

#### Cost of repairing broken rails

The AAR developed the following model to estimate the cost for repairing detected defects and broken rails (Wells and Gudiness, 1981). In terms of repairing broken rails, it can be calculated using below equation:

$$SDC = \left[\frac{W_{replace} \times L_{replace}(P_{new} - 0.95P_{old})}{2000} + C_{Srepair}\right](1-t)$$

Where

SDC = total cost for repairing a broken rail accounting for rail salvage value, tax, materials, equipment, and labor cost;

 $W_{replace}$ =weight of replacement rail in pounds per yard;

 $L_{replace}$  = length of replacement of rail in yards;

 $P_{new}$ =price of new rail, in dollars per ton (800);

 $P_{old}$  = price of scrap rail in dollars per ton (200);

 $C_{Srepair}$ =expenses for labor, materials, equipment, and thermite welds for continuously welded rail (\$2,140);

t = federal and state marginal income tax rate (0.53).

In general, an estimated \$1,127 was spent to repair a broken rail is provided in Liu et al. (2014) and would also be employed in this simplified safety benefit calculations. Railroad can also update the cost of repairing broken rails per their historical records.

#### Train delay cost due to broken rail

The time required to repair a broken rail is dependent on its size, type, location, and several other factors. Liu et al. (2014) assumed 5 hours to repair a broken rail but it is acknowledged that the actual repair time will vary depending on circumstances. The FRA report (2009) estimated the cost of passenger train delays, based on 285 passengers per train, an average value of passenger time of \$25 per hour. This relatively high per hour value of time is related to the income of train passengers. Many commuter lines have average passenger household incomes in excess of \$75,000 per year (FRA, 2009). In addition, the average duration of blockage due to broken rail is estimated as 2 hours.

Per the train schedules and traffic volume of one U.S. transit railroad, it assumes that on average, there are 100 trains and 60 trains passing each line in weekday and weekend, respectively. In particular, there is no train service in the nighttime of weekday. Some routes do not operate during weekend and it assumes that there are no detected broken rails in these routes, although inspection car or signal can still detect the occurrence of broken rails. Based on these, the train delay costs in weekday and weekend are \$445,312 and \$178,125, respectively:

$$C_{weekday} = 285 \times \$25 \times \left(\frac{5}{16}\right) \times 100 \times 2 = \$445,312.5$$
$$C_{weekend} = 285 \times \$25 \times \left(\frac{5}{24}\right) \times 60 \times 2 = \$178,125$$

### 4.2 Total Broken Rail Reduction Benefits

Based on the estimations of train delay costs and broken rail repair costs, Table 4.1 presents the monetary benefits of prevented broken rail in two scenarios, low end with all broken rail prevented during weekends and high end with all broken rail prevented during weekdays. For example, if 10 broken rails are expected to be prevented, the reduction benefits are around \$1.8 - \$4.4 million in dollars. For nationwide transit system, there should be a large volume of broken rail occurrences every year. Thus, the broken rail prevention benefits are expected to be significantly high.

Furthermore, this section only considers two parts in benefit analysis, costs for repairing broken rails and train delay costs. Any broken rail-caused accidents (e.gs, derailments) are able to cause considerable damage costs to infrastructure, rolling stock and even casualties. For example, in the benefit-cost analysis guidance, FRA (2016) identified \$9,600,000 per fatality as the value of

a statistical life. In the value of injuries, the unit values vary between \$28,800 and \$5,692,800 that depends on the severity (e.g., minor, moderate, serious, severe, or critical). Overall, the potential consequences resulting from broken rails could be substantial. However, due to the limitation of historical data in transit railroad, this section would not quantitatively cover them in the benefits of broken rail prevention.

Number of Broken	Monetary Benefits in One Year					
Rail Prevented in One	Low End	High End				
Year	(All in weekend)	(All in weekday)				
5	\$896,260	\$2,232,197				
10	\$1,792,520	\$4,464,395				
15	\$2,688,780	\$6,696,592				
20	\$3,585,040	\$8,928,790				
25	\$4,481,300	\$11,160,987				

Table 4.1. Broken Rail Reduction Benefits by Reduction Percentage per Year

# 5 Concluding Remarks

This study mainly provides an insight for the broken rail-related track asset management in the age of big data. The issue of broken rails has proven to be quite pervasive, enduring for more than a century (Dick et. Al, 2002). Having permeated by means of corrosion, wear, crack propagation, etc., this issue has heavily impacted the lives of many individuals through death, injury, sudden/anticipated delays, monetary expenses, fear, and the like. The literature review covering journal articles, news, and federal reports shows the effects of broken rail, corrosion, maintenance strategies and strategies, and the national standards implemented to regulate broken rail occurrence and rectifications.

In practice, due to cultural factor, organization structural factor, and technical factors, rail trackrelated datasets are organized and accessed by different departments of one railroad and are isolated from the rest of the organization. In addition, there are other challenging issues existing in datasets, such as format, duplicates, and missing data. In order to overcome the impediment to effective decision making raised by data silos, a Concept of Operations for rail track asset management is proposed in this report which aims to present a systemic methodology in the rail track asset-related data management. The proposed Concept of Operation in broken rail-related track asset management involves four steps: essential dataset identification and collection, data cleaning and mapping, comprehensive database integration, and data analysis and modeling. It is also acknowledged that there is no completely universal approach to data integration. However, data management solutions typically involve a few common elements that are primarily demonstrated in this section. The objectives of the proposed Concept of Operation in track asset management are to improve the collaboration and unification of data systems, boost efficiency, reduce errors and avoid rework, deliver more valuable data and leverage big data in the rail track asset management and broken rail prevention. The preliminary quantitative analysis discloses that the preventions of 10 or 25 broken rails are equivalent to around \$1.8~\$4.4 million and \$4.5~\$11.2 million in monetary values, respectively. The potential consequences, such as fatalities and injuries, would also add up the broken rail prevention benefits if any occurs. Overall, the anticipated benefits that accrue from the prevention of broken rail in nationwide transit rail system are expected to be enormous.

Furthermore, there are still additional challenges and future work in the rail track asset management and risk management. Firstly, the integrity of datasets plays a key role in the rail track asset management and risk management. Although developed Concept of Operations aims to reduce the adverse impact from data silo, the lack of certain essential dataset can be the impediment to the rail track asset management, risk management, and effective decision making. Secondly, the occurrence of rail defects and broken rail is a rare event. It is highly difficult to develop a high-accuracy prediction model of the very low probability of broken rail with significantly imbalanced data. Thirdly, in addition to technical impacts, organizational factors and cultural factors may bring challenges in the rail track asset management. For example, in large railroads, data silos can stem from a hierarchy separated by many layers of management and highly specialized staff. As result, one department or team in a railroad can only access a set or source of data. Therefore, to support the efficient rail track asset management and risk management with seeing the big picture, organizational factors and cultural factors should be overcome along with technical factors.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Abdel-Aty, M., Uddin, N., Pande, A., Abdalla, F., Hsia, L., 2004. Predicting freeway crashes from loop detector data by matched case-control logistic regression. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (1897),* pp.88-95.
- [2] Abril, M., Barber, F., Ingolotti, L., Salido, M.A., Tormos, P. and Lova, A., 2008. An assessment of railway capacity. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 44(5), pp.774-806.
- [3] Agico Group, 2017. 5 Common Railway Components for Track. <u>http://www.railway-fasteners.com/news/railway-track-components.html</u>
- [4] American Rails, 2019. Railroad Infrastructure, The Backbone of How Trains Operate. <u>https://www.american-rails.com/infrastructure.html</u>
- [5] An, R., Sun, Q., Bai, W., Liu, R. & Wang, F. (2017). Grid-Based Analysis of causal factors of railway rail break risk. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*.
- [6] Aratani, L., 2018, January. Metro says a broken rail likely caused Red Line train carrying
  63 to derail. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/dr-gridlock/wp/2018/01/15/red-linetrain-carrying-at-least-60-passengers-derails-near-farragut-north/?noredirect=onAglan, H.,
  & Gan, Y. X. (2001). Fatigue crack growth analysis of a premium rail steel. *Journal of Materials Science*, 36(2), 389-397.
- BBC News, 2018, November. Broken railway track disrupts trains across the country. https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-manchester-46096385

- [8] Brouzoulis, J. (2014). Wear impact on rolling contact fatigue crack growth in rails. Wear, 314(1-2), 13-19.
- [9] Cannon, D.F., Edel, K.O., Grassie, S.L. and Sawley, K., 2003. Rail defects: an overview. Fatigue & Fracture of Engineering Materials & Structures, 26(10), pp.865-886.
- [10] Cayabyab, M.J., 2014, December. MRT-3 broken rails will spell disaster HK rail inspector. https://newsinfo.inquirer.net/657284/mrt-3-broken-rails-will-spell-disaster-hkrail-inspector?fbclid=IwAR04ADAJNVB1GthCPatqNcBBCxRCpqlzobhOu8KV6bAZaHcwG\_mSTX1RSI
- [11] CBC News, 2018, January. Via rail passengers stuck in Gogama taken away by bus. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/sudbury/broken-rails-gogama-1.4489623
- [12] Chattopadhyay, G., & Kumar, S. (2009). Parameter Estimation for Rail Degradation Model. *International Journal of Performability Engineering*, 5(2), 119-130.
- [13] and location of broken railway rails and broken rail derailments (Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign).
- [14] Dearden, L., 2016, March. Brussels attacks timeline: How bombings unfolded at airport and Metro Station. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/brussels-attackstimeline-how-bombings-unfolded-at-airport-and-metro-station-a6945781.html
- [15] Dick, C. T., Barkan, C. P.L., Chapman, E., & Stehly, M. P. (2002). Predicting the occurrence of broken rails: a quantitative approach. In Proceedings of the American Railway Engineering and Maintenance of Way Association (AREMA) Annual Conference, Washington DC.

- [16] Dick, C.T., Barkan, C.P.L., Chapman, E., & Stehly, M.P. (2003). Multivariate statistical model for predicting occurrence and location of broken rails. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, (1825), 48-55.
- [17] Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), 2009. Positive Train Control Systems Regulatory Impact Analysis, Washington DC.
- [18] Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), 2015. Track Inspector Rail Defect Reference Manual, July 2015, Revision 2. Washington DC.
- [19] Federal Railroad Administration, 2016. Legislation and Regulations. https://www.fra.dot.gov/Page/P0020
- [20] Federal Railroad Administration, 2014. Track Safety Standards; Improving Rail Integrity (CORRECTION). https://www.fra.dot.gov/Elib/Document/3553
- [21] Federal Railroad Administration, 2016. Benefit-Cost Analysis Guidance for Rail Projects. https://www.fra.dot.gov/eLib/Details/L17471
- [22] Federal Transit Administration, 2013. SSO Program Certification. Washington, DC.
- [23] Federal Transit Administration, 2018. Two-Hour Accident Notification Guide. Washington,
   DC. https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/regulations-and-guidance/safety/114631/two-hour-accident-notification-guide.pdf
- [24] Fedulov, B.N., Safonov, A.A., Sergeichev, I.V., Ushakov, A.E., Klenin, Y.G. and Makarenko, I.V., 2016. Strength analysis and process simulation of subway contact rail support bracket of composite materials. Applied Composite Materials, 23(5), pp.999-1013.
- [25] Gestrelius, S., Aronsson, M. and Peterson, A., 2017. A MILP-based heuristic for a commercial train timetabling problem. Transportation Research Procedia, 27, pp.569-576.

- [26] Guseva, E.A., Kargapoltsev, S.K., Balanovskiy, A.E., Karlina, A.I., Shtayger, M.G., Gozbenko, V.E., Konstantinova, M.V. and Sivtsov, A.V., 2019, June. Comparative evaluation of corrosion resistance of wheel and rail steels in various media. In IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering (Vol. 560, No. 1, p. 012181). IOP Publishing.
- [27] He, Q., Li, H., Bhattacharjya, D., Parikh, D. P., & Hampapur, A. (2013). Railway track geometry defect modeling: deterioration, derailment risk and optimal repair. In *Proceedings of the Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting. The Academy of Transportation Research Board*.
- [28] He, Q., Li, H., Bhattacharjya, D., Parikh, D. P., & Hampapur, A. (2015). Track geometry defect rectification based on track deterioration modelling and derailment risk assessment. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 66(3), 392-404.
- [29] Harshbarger, R., 2014, May. F line breaks days after 1,000 stranded by derailment. https://nypost.com/2014/05/06/f-line-rail-breaks-days-after-1000-stranded-by-derailment/
- [30] Hay, W.W., 1982. Railroad engineering (Vol. 1). John Wiley & Sons.
- [31] Hernández, F.R., Plascencia, G. and Koch, K., 2009. Rail base corrosion problem for North American transit systems. Engineering Failure Analysis, 16(1), pp.281-294.
- [32] Hojda, M. and Filcek, G., 2016, September. A Joint Problem of Track Closure Planning and Train Run Rescheduling with Detours. In International Conference on Systems Science (pp. 285-294). Springer, Cham.
- [33] International Heavy Haul Association. (IHHA, 2001). Guidelines to best practices for heavy haul railway operations: Wheel and rail interface issues. *International Heavy Haul Association*.

- [34] Jeong, D. Y. (2001). Progress in rail integrity research (No. DOT/FRA/ORD-01/18).Federal Railroad Administration. United States.
- [35] Kassa, E., & Nielsen, J. C. O. (2008). Stochastic analysis of dynamic interaction between train and railway turnout. *Vehicle System Dynamics*, 46(5), 429-449.
- [36] Kalay, S., Morgan, R., Reiff., R.P., Peters, J., 2001. Broken Rail Detection. <u>http://trb.org/publications/tcrp/tcrp\_rpt\_71a.pdf</u>
- [37] Lan, Q., Dhanasekar, M. and Handoko, Y.A., 2019. Wear damage of out-of-round wheels in rail wagons under braking. Engineering Failure Analysis, 102, pp.170-186.
- [38] Levy, C.J., 2010, March. Moscow Attack a Test for Putin and His Record Against Terror. https://www.nytimes.com/2010/03/30/world/europe/30moscow.html?mtrref=www.google. com&gwh=DB656CEA8ABC6A27D4DCBE6FF8E85F69&gwt=pay&assetType=REGIW ALL
- [39] Liu, X., Lovett, A., Dick, T., Rapik Saat, M. and Barkan, C.P., 2014. Optimization of ultrasonic rail-defect inspection for improving railway transportation safety and efficiency. Journal of Transportation Engineering, 140(10), p.04014048.
- [40] Long Island News12, 2019, January. Broken rails extend freezing commute for LIRR riders. http://longisland.news12.com/story/39882400/broken-rails-extend-freezingcommute-for-lirr-riders
- [41] Long Island News12, 2019, January. Broken rails lead to more LIRR delays, cancellations. http://longisland.news12.com/story/39868128/lirr-broken-rails-at-mineola-wantaghcausing-delays-

cancellations?fbclid=IwAR15brrl3MTf0raVbRziMb40qwDRISFTSQ\_clmOH452aL8Lcjl 2Ase8iYS0

- [42] Jin, X., Wen, Z., Wang, K. and Xiao, X., 2006. Effect of passenger car curving on rail corrugation at a curved track. Wear, 260(6), pp.619-633.
- [43] Magel, E., Mutton, P., Ekberg, A. and Kapoor, A., 2016. Rolling contact fatigue, wear and broken rail derailments. Wear, 366, pp.249-257.
- [44] Paul, D., 2015. DC stray current in rail transit systems and cathodic protection[History]. IEEE Industry Applications Magazine, 22(1), pp.8-13.
- [45] New Jersey Department of Transportation (NJDOT), 2018. Rail Transit State Safety
   Oversight (SSO) Program Standard (SSOPS).
   https://www.state.nj.us/transportation/freight/guideway/pdf/NJDOT\_SSOPS.pdf
- [46] Pilotte, Paul. 2016. Analytics-driven embedded systems, part 2 Developing analytics and prescriptive controls. MathWorks, https://www.embedded-computing.com/embeddedcomputing-design/analytics-driven-embedded-systems-part-2-developing-analytics-andprescriptive controls#. Accessed by July 17, 2019.
- [47] Reddy, V. (2004). Modelling and analysis of rail grinding and lubrication strategies for controlling rolling contact fatigue (RCF) and rail wear (Doctoral dissertation, Queensland University of Technology).
- [48] Roney, M. D., & Ebersohn, W. (2001). Maintaining Optimal Wheel and Rail Performance, Guidelines to Best Practices for Heavy Haul Railway Operations: Wheel and Rail Interface Issues. International Heavy Haul Association, Virginia, USA.
- [49] Railway Technology, 2013. MTR introduces new ultrasonic testing vehicle. https://www.railway-technology.com/uncategorised/newsmtr-introduces-new-ultrasonictesting-vehicle/

- [50] Schafer, D.H., 2008. Effect of train length on railroad accidents and a quantitative analysis of factors affecting broken rails(Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign).
- [51] Sheehan, K., Sauchelli, D., Mongelli, L., and Rosenbaum, S., 2014, May. Inside the derailed NYC Subway that stranded 1,000. https://nypost.com/2014/05/02/f-train-derailsin-queens-delays-expected/
- [52] Sheinman, E., 2012. Wear of rails. A review of the American press. Journal of Friction and Wear, 33(4), pp.308-314.
- [53] Shu, X. and Wilson, N., 2007. Use of Guard/Girder/Restraining Rails. TCRP Research Results Digest, (82).
- [54] Shyr, F. Y., & Ben-Akiva, M. (1996). Modeling rail fatigue behavior with multiple hazards. *Journal of Infrastructure Systems*, 2(2), 73-82.
- [55] Skyttebol, A., Josefson, B. L., & Ringsberg, J. W. (2005). Fatigue crack growth in a welded rail under the influence of residual stresses. *Engineering Fracture Mechanics*, 72(2), 271-285.
- [56] Sourget, F., & Riollet, A. M. (2006). PROBARAIL: a statistical tool to improve preventive maintenance on rails. *In Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Railway Research*.
- [57] Stock, R., & Pippan, R. (2011). RCF and wear in theory and practice—The influence of rail grade on wear and RCF. *Wear*, 271(1-2), 125-133.
- [58] Sun, Y. Q., Cole, C., & Boyd, P. (2011). A numerical method using VAMPIRE modelling for prediction of turnout curve wheel–rail wear. *Wear*, 271(1-2), 482-491.
- [59] Thelen, G., & Lovette, M. (1996). A parametric study of the lubrication transport mechanism at the rail-wheel interface. *Wear*, *191*(1-2), 113-120.

- [60] Tunna, J., Gordon, J., Jeong, D., Patrick, C., 2016, April. Controls to Eliminate Broken Rails in Service. ASME. ASME/IEEE Joint Rail Conference, 2016 Joint Rail Conference ():V001T06A001. doi:10.1115/JRC2016-5705.
- [61] Wells, T. R., and Gudiness, T. A. (1981). "Rail performance model: Technical background and preliminary results." R-474, Association of American Railroads, Washington, DC.
- [62] Vulcan, 2013. Railroad Ballast. https://www.vulcanmaterials.com/constructionmaterials/products-and-services/railroad-ballast-and-other-track-materials
- [63] Xu, G., Chen, D.W. and Jia, L.R., 2017. Self-Adaptive Euler Equation Solver with Moving Boundary Conditions to Simulate Tunnel Aerodynamics. DEStech Transactions on Engineering and Technology Research, (icia).
- [64] Yakas, B., 2014, May. F Train Derailment Happened In "Critical Rail Break" Area Slated
   For Future Repair.
   https://gothamist.com/2014/05/03/f\_train\_derailment\_happened\_in\_crit.php
- [65] Yang, Y., Liu, Y., Zhou, M., Li, F. and Sun, C., 2015. Robustness assessment of urban rail transit based on complex network theory: A case study of the Beijing Subway. Safety science, 79, pp.149-162.
- [66] Yuan, Z., Zhang, Q. and Huang, K., 2016, June. An Optimization Method of Rescheduling for Urban Rail Transit. In 2016 5th International Conference on Advanced Materials and Computer Science (ICAMCS 2016). Atlantis Press.
- [67] Zarembski, A.M. and Palese, J.P., 2005, September. Characterization of broken rail risk for freight and passenger railway operations. In 2005 AREMA Annual Conference, Chicago, IL.

- [68] Zhao, J., Chan, A.H.C. and Burrow, M.P.N., 2007. Probabilistic model for predicting rail breaks and controlling risk of derailment. Transportation research record, 1995(1), pp.76-83.
- [69] Zarembski, A. M., Einbinder, D., & Attoh-Okine, N. (2016). Using multiple adaptive regression to address the impact of track geometry on development of rail defects. *Construction and Building Materials*, 127, 546-555.
- [70] Zarembski, A. M., & Palese, J. W. (2010). Evaluation of the effectiveness of rail grinding on reducing rail defects on North American Class 1 railroad. *In Annual Conference of American Railway Engineering and Maintenance-of-Way Association, Orlando, Fla.*
- [71] Zerbst, U., Lundén, R., Edel, K. O., & Smith, R. A. (2009a). Introduction to the damage tolerance behaviour of railway rails–a review. *Engineering Fracture Mechanics*, 76(17), 2563-2601.
- [72] Zerbst, U., Schödel, M., & Heyder, R. (2009b). Damage tolerance investigations on rails. *Engineering Fracture Mechanics*, 76(17), 2637-2653.
- [73] Zong, N., Wexler, D., & Dhanasekar, M. (2013). Structural and material characterization of insulated rail joints. *Special Issue: Electronic Journal of Structural Engineering*, 13(1), 75-87.